1 TOWN OF CHESTER

2 WATER/SEWER COMMISSIONER’S MEETING

3 January 21, 2026, Minutes

4

5 Board Members Present: Arne Jonynas, Peter Hudkins, and Arianna Knapp at Town Hall; Tim

6 Roper by Zoom. Absent: Lee Gustafson.

7

g Staff Present: Julic Hance, Town Manager, at Town Hall; and Susan Bailey, Recording

9 Secretary, via Zoom.
10
11 Visitors Present: William Lindsay, Tim Jones, and Don Mills at Town Hall; Kirk MacGinnis,
12 Jeft Hance, The Chester Telegraph, Sharon Jonynas, Hugh Quinn, Lindsay (no last name),
13 Donna McNeil Hudkins, Gloria’s iPhone, and SAPA TV, via Zoom.
14
15 Call to Order
16
17 Vice Chair Arne Jonynas called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. He led with the Pledge of
18 Allegiance, and welcomed everyone to the meeting and asked them to sign in. Arne noted that
19 Lee Gustafson was home ill with a bad cold and Tim Roper was on Zoom.
20
21 Agenda Item 1, Citizen’s Comments
22
23 There were none.
24
25 Agenda Item 2, Water Budget
26
27 There wasn’t much that had changed since last presented. Well repair had been increased as there
28 was an issue with one of the pumps, so they added $5,000 to well repair. This is the year that
29 they will flush the sewer lines, so $4,000 was added to the line flushing. Those were the only
30 changes. Arianna confirmed they were projecting $60,000 more in fees and that was due to the
31 rate adjustments throughout the year. Julie said they would come to the board at their first
32 meeting in February for formal approval. In one year, they will be at a positive in water. Arne
33 confirmed with Julie that once the rates increase, they will be where they want to be and he noted
34 it had been a long process. Julie added that February’s billing will be the second full billing with
35 the new meters and the information will go to Ashley Lucht in early March. Ashley helped them
36 secure a grant. She will help them re-evaluate their rate structure and tell them if they’re billing
37 the correct way and help them build capital plans in those two departments. Arianna questioned
38 the administrative offset and Julie said the percentage was added last year. Arianna asked why
39 the utilities expense in 2025 had increased. Julie suspected something had happened and could
40 get data and doublecheck the amount. Arne asked if there was any data from the first full reading
41 with the new water meters and whether they were over or under billing. Julie said they couldn’t
42 tell from one billing cycle but a lot of water users had called in and thought there was something
43 wrong, which enabled the town to catch a lot of problems. Arianna wondered how many were
44 app failures and how many were leaks. Julie said it was usually toilet runnings, which add up.
45
46 Arianna moved to adopt the Water Department 2026 budget for the municipality of Chester, as

Page 1 of 8



1 presented at this meeting, and Peter seconded the motion. The motion carried, unanimously.
2
3 Agenda Item 3, Sewer Budget
4
5 Arne asked for a motion to approve the Sewer Department 2026 budget, as presented. Peter
6 moved and Arianna seconded the motion, which carried, unanimously.
7
8 Agenda Item 4, Adjourn
9
10 Arianna moved and Peter seconded a motion to adjourn. The motion carried, unanimously.
11
12 (6:38 p.m.)
13
14 SPECIAL SELECTBOARD MEETING
15
16 Arne noted it was only special because it started after the water and sewer commissioner’s
17 meeting.
18
19 Agenda Item 1, Approval of Minutes of the January 7, 2026 Selectboard Meeting
20
21 Arianna moved and Peter second a motion to approve the January 7th minutes. Tim noted there
22 was a typo on page 3, line 23, that Millionton should be Millington. Arianna moved to approve
23 the minutes, as amended. Peter seconded the motion. The motion carried, unanimously, and the
24 minutes were approved, as amended.
25
26 Agenda Item 2, Citizen’s Comments
27
28 There were none.
29
30 Agenda Item 3, Old Business
31
32 Report by Town Manager:
33
34 Solar Field
35 The purchase of the solar field is moving forward and on track to close on January 30th.
36
37 Bailey Hill Road
38 The family of Paul Bidgood has indicated they are not interested in pursuing responses to Paul’s
39 last letter of February Sth. Jim will finalize his response to the board and has been asked to
40 provide guidance on the best way to clarify what is in the land records. Peter had wanted
41 mapping information for the land records to clarify some things. They will have a conversation
42 about what they can do to make sure it is clear in the land records.
43
44 Contracts
45 Today bids were opened for Contracts Two and Three of the sewer project: Contract Two being
46 the pump station and Contract Three being the main. They received 8 bids for both. Contract

Page 2 of 8



1 Two came in at $680,000, which was a little above the engineer’s estimate but Contract Three
2 came in at $715,000, which was a little lower. Bids were favorable so it was good news. Arne
3 asked if any bidders were local. Julie said some were local and some from Massachusetts and
4 one from Maine. The engineers manage the process. Arne noted that it was a lot of bids and they
5 don’t usually receive that many and Julie agreed but said it was the time of year to bid. Arne
6 noted it was partly why they were going to wait until next year for the sidewalk bidding and Julie
7 said they have cleared right-of-way for the sidewalk but final design approval still needs to be
8 done by the state. Peter added that the Agency of Transportation isn’t putting any work out and
9 that was likely why they had more bidders. Arianna said that made sense.
10
11 Arne asked since it was wintertime, if they would be doing the electricity upstairs. Julie said
12 Wanyne is with Steve for two and a half days, so they would be and she had asked them to
13 prioritize it. They had to finish the library work but that was done. The town has a lot of
14 buildings and a lot of things have been delayed.
15
16 Agenda Item 4, Green Mountain Power; Review 2026 & Future Projects
17
18 There was a map of the Lovers Lane project in the packet. Tim Jones and Don Mills of Green
19 Mountain Power were present. Tim Jones, Program Manager, talked about the project. He
20 thanked Julie for getting them on the agenda and Kirby for taking the time to meet with him and
21 review the project. Don is the Operations Supervisor from Brattleboro and also a lineman and
22 their resident expert. They were before the board last May and had returned. They have done
23 around 80 miles of the style of project proposed for Lovers Lane. The project is planned to be
24 90% underground and buried, with a target depth of 48 to 50 inches. It will start just north of the
25 rec fields. When they bury their conductor, they will replace the entire culvert over the top as
26 they restore the road. Mr. Jones assured that the roads will be returned as good or better when
27 they are done with the project and said they could confirm that with towns where they have done
28 similar projects. The project goes to about Randall Road and they will have to navigate the ledge
29 and open water areas. They are turnkey and use Buck Adams for their civil contractor who
30 restores the roads. GMP has a line company that works alongside them. Mr. Jones anticipated it
31 would take a couple weeks to rough everything in with the civil contractor coming behind and
32 restoring the roads and hooking up everyone’s services. This has proven a very effective storm
33 hardening technique to alleviate risks. There are two other projects: on Route 103 down to Peck
34 Road and the next project will go Cambridge, Fort Road, Fisher Hill and all the way down to
35 Route 121. They would like to start this project in May. Arianna asked about road closures and
36 GMP said they will have traffic control and do a two-week look ahead with the town and notify
37 residents ahead of time. Arianna confirmed with Green Mountain Power that the permission
38 needed from the Select Board were about town right-of-way and didn’t involve costs or labor.
39 Mr. Jones said if they need right-of-ways from customers, they work with them and it provides
40 the opportunity for them to join the line, if they wish. Peter asked if they were doing
41 telecommunications at the same time or if all the poles would stay. At GMP’s expense, they later
42 install one interduct for telecommunications and most want their own custom material so GMP
43 will 1nstall it for them. The secondary pole lines will be two to three years before they can get
44 them to reattach. Arne asked if there was a timeframe or requirement so that they didn’t end up
45 with extra poles all over the village. Since GMP is the pole owner, they will retire their line and
46 remove the conductor and top the pole. There is a joint notification system, NJUNS, so once

Page 3 of 8



1 GMP is done and energized, they’ll notify whoever’s licensed on the poles and tell them they’re
2 done. There is an abandonment procedure. Comcast, Xfinity, and V-Tel are the groups he was
3 referring to. Peter noted there was a lot of copper still up there. Tim said there was regulation
4 that some had to stay. Arne asked about the old right-of-ways that run through the woods and
5 similar places and wondered if they reverted back to the owners. Mr. Jones said they would get
6 the deeds quit-claimed and deeded back to the landowner. Arne confirmed that GMP was just
7 looking for the town to grant them the right-of-way and wondered if they ever reimburse towns
8 monetarily for right-of-ways because they would be saving money. Mr. Jones said it’s a bigger
9 investment upfront to put everything underground and the carrot was they were rebuilding the
10 road but noted that they were also tearing it up. Compensation hasn’t been a factor but they also
11 had a town to run. Arne said the town pays $25,000 to GMP for their street lights and wondered
12 if it was something to be considered. Don couldn’t give them an answer but towns have
13 benefitted from brand new culverts and other things they have done. Arne agreed they were
14 getting the roads back better than they were but it didn’t hurt to ask. Arne said there were no
15 meters on the lights and thought they had gotten more efficient over the years. Peter said they
16 have streetlights on every street in Gassets. GMP said they would come back to them with an
17 answer. Arne said the part of the road with the ledges and the river got washed away, it was 6
18 feet and not 4 feet and wondered if it was buried in that section. GMP said they had looked at it
19 and would figure it out. He thought they could mitigate it by removing trees. Arne said it was a
20 tough corner and suspected GMP had discussed it with Kirby. Peter wondered if the wheel had
21 stopped because they hit all the ledge. GMP said they’ve had good luck getting the machine
22 through the ledge and if they had some resistance, they would send a mini excavator out ahead of
23 it. GMP said they were asking for consideration and it was new business for the town. As time
24 goes on, they would like to get the agreement in place by the beginning of April which would
25 lock in their playbook. Arianna wondered if it was the same time as the other projects with the
26 town torn up and wondered how Kirby would be affected. GMP said any of the unsuitable
27 material that comes up when they restore the roads would be scraped off. Arne noted Lovers
28 Lane was a big loop so if it was closed off, you could still access it and noted it was a longer
29 scenic ride. Arne was pleased they would be burying the lines because it was a scenic road. Tim
30 Roper’s key interest was about a customer who wanted their service buried, so that they could
31 work with GMP to get a cost associated with it. Tim Roper wondered if they would be contacting
32 the customers or if that was something the town should do because he saw a good opportunity
33 and figured there were savings. GMP said that was correct and they would contact the customers.
34 Tim Roper wondered if the town could advertise that and saw the benefit of having buried lines.
35 GMP agreed. Tim asked if it would all remain single phase and it would. Tim Roper asked if
36 they were going around the ledge because of the way it looked on the prints and GMP noted
37 there were a lot of bridges and open water.
38
39 Arne asked if they were looking for a signature at this meeting and GMP said they will work
40 with Julie and Kirby and come back to the board in March.
41
42 Agenda Item 5, Adopt 2026 General Fund Budget
43
44 Julie wanted to put on the record and get some clarity around the deficit discussion and how they
45 arrived where they were. At the end of 2024, the internal numbers were not reflected in the
46 deficit. The 2024 audit was completed in June 2025 and Julie was told, at that time, that it was a

Page 4 of 8



1 clear audit and was not alerted to the fact there was a deficit by the auditors. At that time, she
2 didn’t review the audit because there was nothing to look for and other time constraints. Julie
3 said it was her mistake for not having done that. She was alerted to the deficit in mid-October
4 when she was gathering information for the bond bank and when she reviewed it, that was when
5 she noticed the deficit in addition to discrepancies, including double entries between the general
6 fund, water, sewer, and capital. She reached out to the auditors who agreed something wasn’t
7 right. It was agreed because they would begin the 2025 audit in February, that they would deal
8 with the 2024 corrections at the same time as the 2025 audit. The 2025 audit is scheduled for the
9 end of February. Julie apologized for not bringing it to the board in October and noted there
10 wasn’t anything malicious and she wasn’t hiding anything but did not have the answers. The
11 auditors need to give them the answers. Julie said the way she has always operated with her legal
12 background is that issues aren’t brought forward until they have the facts surrounding them. She
13 didn’t have all the information and assumed they would discuss it when the 2025 audit was
14 completed. Julie told the board if they want her to change that practice going forward, they could
15 discuss it. She couldn’t tell them what caused it because she didn’t have the facts yet and, in her
16 experience, it gets messy when half of the facts are publicized and do not end well. Arianna said
17 from what she had just heard that it sounded like Julie did not have the answers yet and was still
18 waiting for the information behind it. Julie agreed. This year they knew they would have a deficit
19 because they were coming up in their own reports. Arianna noted they had a conversation that
20 there was $70,000 allocated to go towards a contingency or expectation of unknown deficit and
21 wondered if that was in the version that Julie had sent them. It was not.
22
23 Bill Lindsay read the 2024 audit and he isn’t a CPA but had several years of accounting, but not
24 cost accounting. Bill said the audit was extremely difficult to read and understand what the
25 auditors were saying. With that in mind, Bill said advertising for help, as they were, in the
26 finance department, was a good corrective action. Bill thought this person should report to the
27 Select Board members at meetings so they had the opportunity to ask questions. Bill said
28 accounting for the government is different from accounting for a business. Bill complimented
29 them for the decision to hire someone and noted it costs money but it also costs money when
30 they don’t have it. Bill thought they should consider depreciation and Julie said they would find
31 out an answer because she wasn’t sure it could be carried in a municipal budget. She had
32 checked with her counterparts who don’t use depreciation but they weren’t sure why, so Julie
33 will check with the auditors. Arne hoped they would have some answers. Julie said in addition to
34 the advertisement for the finance director, they were working on a job description and she added
35 that many municipalities who have true finance directors, have them come to the meetings to
36 report and answer questions and they have included that in the job description.
37
38 December ambulance revenue has been received so the total combined revenue is $517,591.
39 About $126,000 of revenue got posted, which was great. They dropped a few lines. Fire
40 Department Equipment: a fire they responded to a few days before they had a pump issue and
41 now have $18,000 in repairs that need to be made to Engine 1. The chief asked Yosemite if they
42 could help with the expense and Yosemite said their mission is not to repair equipment but they
43 are willing to fund equipment purchases needed throughout the year. So Julie reduced equipment
44 by $10,000 anticipating it would be made by gifts from Yosemite and it would free up money for
45 repairs.. Kirby was comfortable lowering gravel to $40,000. Arne confirmed it was because
46 Kirby was comfortable with what they had stockpiled. Now that the office is closed on Fridays,

Page 5 of 8



1 and they have a staff member who is budgeted for 40 hours, they are cleaning the office, so they

2 reduced the budgeted cleaning amount by $1,000. They left the remaining $2,000 in because the

3 main hall upstairs is cleaned by a professional service monthly and the windows twice. Julie

4 reduced the contribution to the Fall Festival, National Night Out, and the amount to the Winter

5 Carnival dropped from $8,000 to $4,000. Facility Repair: Julie removed the fencing as the board

6 had requested. Julie took historical maintenance from $25,000 to $10,000: she pulled out the

7 painting of the cupola and any work to Yosemite Fire House. The amount that remains is to

8 cover repairs at the hearse house, where there is some rotting, of which Chester Townscape is

9 paying $5,000 and the budget has $4,000. Julie removed the contribution from the reserve fund
10 thinking they would clear the deficit and the contribution could begin in 2027 but could be
11 changed. With those changes, the budget is at 6% which is average for municipalities in the area,
12 who have local options tax and are buying down their rate. Chester doesn’t have that option.
13 Peter noted they hadn’t included contributions to pay down the debt in the budget and he thought
14 they would be paying the deficit off long after they’re off the board. Arianna wondered how they
15 felt about the rest of the budget. Arne was okay and said they could consider the issue raised by
16 Peter. Arianna suggested they seed the reserve fund so once they found out what the deficit was,
17 they could use that to pay towards it. If they went with 7%, that would raise $40,000 for the
18 reserve. Arianna asked Julie if there was anything in the budget that she thought was too thin.
19 Julie reviewed the budget with the department heads and asked them to come back to her with
20 areas they could thin out and everyone was comfortable with the adjustments. Arne noted they
21 weren’t even sure of the deficit yet. They were deciding if they should fund the reserve. Tim
22 thought he followed Julie’s logic to get back even once they knew the number for 2025 and if
23 there was one for 2024 and would have to make it happen. Tim thought they should put money in
24 a reserve and continue going forward. $70,000 in the reserve would put the budget at a 7.5% tax
25 increase. Tim said that was a pretty big jump but was okay with $40,000, which would be a little
26 over 7%. Julie reminded them that municipalities around them have increases that are up but they
27 have a local options tax so they are buying it down. Arianna tried to recall what the state was
28 increasing taxes by and Arne said the education budget was 12% but they were going to buy
29 back over $1,000,000 so it was going to be about 6%. They were buying back about half of it,
30 but it wasn’t set in stone. They weren’t sure what the state budget increase was. Arianna was
31 trying to get a sense of how 7% felt as opposed to 6% and she thanked Julie and the department
32 heads for their thoughtful approach. Arianna thought they should get into the habit of having a
33 contingency they were calling a reserve fund and she advocated for $40,000 to $50,000 going
34 into a reserve fund and getting into the habit of doing it. Arne agreed that was supposed to be the
35 steps they were going to take and noted it would always be difficult to do but was like having a
36 savings account. Arne was okay with 1%. Tim was with all of them and Peter agreed. Arne
37 thought it might be easier for people to swallow since the education budget was being brought
38 down. Arne said the system wasn’t working and the way they taxed them wasn’t. Julie said it
39 was the 2026 budget and they were already thinking of taking 2026 and having it be a real year
40 of education and evaluation and looking at all the services provided. Julie was surprised how
41 many people don’t understand what their taxes are paying for. The key will be getting the public
42 involved and engaged. Julie hoped they would have a good finance director by then. Department
43 heads are already thinking about this. Arianna asked if they had a search committee for the
44 finance director and Julie said they have internal staftf and an auditor who will be part of the
45 committee. Julie said the ad went out a little over a week ago. They hadn’t received any
46 responses yet. It is advertised with Vermont Government Finance and New England Government

Page 6 of 8



1 Finance and several agencies. They have offered that the finance person can be partially remote
2 and only need to be in the office one or two days a week. The most important thing is that they
3 have someone who is the next level of finance. If they are unable to find someone, they will have
4 an advanced bookkeeper at a lesser salary instead of a finance director. Julie said there are town
5 managers who will be retiring whose entire backgrounds are in finance and they may be
6 interested in working 15 hours per week. Arianna echoed what Mr. Lindsay said about the
7 pursuit of the position being the most robust response to the two-year deficit. The others agreed.
8
9 (Brief recess from 7:39 pm - 7:44 pm)
10
11 Arne noted Julie had added $40,000 to the budget for a reserve fund. They would need to raise
12 $4,461,054.94 for taxes. Arne entertained a motion for Article 6 to see if the town would vote to
13 raise $4,461,054.94 to be paid to the Chester Town Treasurer on September 15, 2026 to pay her
14 expenses and any part of the town’s expenses. Arianna moved and Peter seconded the motion.
15 The motion carried, unanimously. Arne said it came to a 7.12% increase.
16
17 They mentioned that it could be affected by the CLA. Peter appreciated the superintendent giving
18 a presentation about it and the others agreed.
19
20 Agenda Item 6, Adopt Town Warning
21
22 For Article Two language, Peter wanted upgraded changed to existing, as they weren’t building
23 new sidewalks. Julie suggested construction of upgrades to existing sidewalks and Peter and the
24 other members agreed. Everyone was okay with articles 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7. The remaining articles
25 the board had no impact on. Bill asked why Article 7 wasn’t done by Australian ballot and Julie
26 said because it was a special question. Arianna confirmed the local options tax wouldn’t be
27 discussed until the eleventh year unless someone petitioned for it or the Select Board chose to. It
28 was confirmed the Family Center was the last article.
29
30 Arne entertained a motion to accept the Town of Chester warning for the Monday, March 2, 2026
31 meeting. Arianna moved and Peter seconded. The motion carried, unanimously.
32

33 Agenda Item 7, New Business/Next Agenda

34

35 e Arianna proposed not having the executive session this evening, but a later time to be
36 determined via Zoom within the next 6 business days. Arne and the others agreed.
37 Arianna would coordinate a meeting with the other members and let Julie know when.
38 The board members can communicate via scheduling a meeting via email without
39 violating the open meeting law.

40 e Bond resolutions.

41 e Second meeting in February they will discuss a draft Use of Town Property policy.
42 e Public Records Request policy will come before the board soon.

43

44 Agenda Item 8, Town Manager Review

45

46 Addressed under Agenda Item 7.

Page 7 of 8



1
2 Agenda Item 9, Adjourn

3
4 Arianna moved to adjourn, and Tim seconded the motion. The motion carried and the meeting

5 was adjourned at 7:54 p.m.

Page 8 of 8



